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ROBERT JAMES LAKE, Manager, Systemic Advocacy, People with Disabilities New South Wales, 52 Pitt Street, Redfern, and

THERESE PAULA SANDS, Senior Policy Officer, People with Disabilities New South Wales, 52 Pitt Street, Redfern, sworn and examined:

CHAIR: Did you receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act?

Ms SANDS: Yes, I did.

Mr LAKE: I did.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Ms SANDS: Yes.

Mr LAKE: I am.

CHAIR: Can you briefly outline your qualifications and experience as they are relevant to the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Ms SANDS: As a senior policy officer with People with Disabilities New South Wales, we provide advice and expertise across disability around a range of issues, including in relation to children with disabilities.

Mr LAKE: I manage the systemic advocacy unit of People with Disabilities New South Wales. We are a cross-disability organisation and we have an interest in the welfare of all people with disabilities, children and adults. Previously I worked at the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission, and have worked in disability advocacy for a number of years.

CHAIR: People with Disabilities has made a written submission to this inquiry. Is it your wish that that be included as part of your sworn evidence?

Ms SANDS: Yes.

CHAIR: If either of you should consider at any stage during your evidence that in the public interest certain evidence or documents you may wish to present should be heard or seen only by the Committee, the Committee will be willing to proceed to your request. However, the House itself may override our decision in that regard if it chooses. Mr Lake, I understand that it is your wish to make a short oral preliminary statement.

Mr LAKE: First, we appreciate the opportunity to appear before the inquiry Committee. People With Disabilities is a peak disability rights organisation in New South Wales. We are a rights-based organisation and our advocacy is based on the rights of adults and children with disabilities and their carers. We have submitted to this inquiry because we believe that the issues of child sexual assault impact heavily on children with disabilities, as we have outlined in our submission. Part of the reason that that happens is because of systemic barriers to the justice system and to the legal system for people in that situation, for children, for their parents and for advocates. Our primary focus in the submission has been the systemic issues, and Ms Sands will speak to those in more detail in reference to the questions. We are not a legal advocacy organisation and that is not the basis of our evidence. There are some areas that we have referred to that we believe could bear closer legal investigation in terms of evidence and children with disability, but we have referred to that in the submission. What we are not able to answer fully, we would be happy to go and get further information if that is okay with the Committee. Ms Sands is the author of the submission and she will speak to the questions that were submitted to us.

CHAIR: I thank People with Disabilities for the submission. It is very helpful that we have considered submissions to assist our inquiry. In commencing the questioning period, I indicate that any questions that I or my colleagues might ask may be responded to by either or both of you as you choose. I want to deal first with the issue of research or statistics. There are some statements in your submission that in my view raise a tension with each other. For example, on page 3 of your submission you say, "People with a disability experience higher levels of sexual assault and experience significantly higher levels of sexual exploitation by the time they reach adulthood than the rest of the population." On page 4 at the bottom you say, "Yet despite evidence that children with disabilities are overwhelmingly the victims of sexual assault, few cases are actually prosecuted." As against that, at page 9 you say, "A major problem is the lack of statistics and data concerning the sexual assault of children with disability." Having regard to that expressed lack of statistics and data, how do you feel entitled to say what the levels of sexual assault of children or people with disabilities might be?

Ms SANDS: Basically, the statement that there is a lack of statistics and research is true, particularly in relation to children with disabilities in the Australian context. A lot of the studies around sexual assault or sexual abuse of people with disabilities concentrates on adults. A lot of it comes from international literature and research. The information and statistics we have used on page 3, et cetera, of our submission are drawn from a number of sources which are indicated in the reference section on page 10. A lot of the information we have used is information that is often quoted in information around sexual assault of people with disabilities generally. For example, we have information with statistics such as between 38 per cent and 83 per cent of females and 16 per cent to 32 per cent of males with developmental disabilities will be sexually abused before they reach 18.

We do not necessarily have a breakdown of that in the Australian context. A lot of the information that we use and refer to, and that perhaps other disability groups may use and refer to, comes from a range of sources, as I said, and also there is some inference from statistics around adults. Part of our recommendation is that there needs to be tracking through the Australian or, in this context, the New South Wales justice system around issues of sexual assault for children with disabilities so that we can get a more accurate picture of the situation in New South Wales so that it can be addressed systematically and in a consistent way. We do not have that. That is part of the problem from our point of view.

CHAIR: At page 4 the submission states, "In some cases lighter sentences appear to be given to offenders who commit crimes, including sexual assault, against people with disabilities." That seems to be a very cautious and imprecise statement. Is there any basis for making that particular submission? You use the word "appear" and you say "in some cases". Do you believe that there is a trend for lighter sentences regarding crimes of sexual assault against people with disabilities?

Ms SANDS: Again, that is taken from the reports we have cited, and I think that particularly comes from the Intellectual Disability Rights Service paper "Making a Statement: an exploratory study of barriers facing women with an intellectual disability". That study found that in cases that they were looking at there appeared to be lighter sentences but there are other studies, international as well, that seem to bear that out.

CHAIR: The submission states in one of the passages I quoted to you in my first question that "few cases are actually prosecuted". What do you think the reasons for that might be? Is that a function of the difficulty of taking the evidence of people with disabilities?

Ms SANDS: It is partly a function of that. On page 5 of our submission we raise a number of issues again that have been cited in a number of studies that in the Australian context, particularly the study done by the Intellectual Disability Rights Service. First, there are a number of assumptions about people with disabilities and children with disabilities that mean that the communication that occurs between say the police or prosecution authorities means that the communication may be inappropriate or they may already have preconceived ideas about the ability of a child with a disability to know the difference between truth and lie or they may use communication techniques which are inappropriate for the particular disability for the child to be able to provide accurate information.

Mr LAKE: In our submission we referred to contamination of evidence when some inappropriate communication techniques are used or where there is uncertainty about the legality of them or they are challenged. We are not a legal service, but that is where we believe there could be a problem.

CHAIR: The submission claims that assumptions about children with disabilities held by police or the prosecution are that the children do not have the capacity to know the difference between truth and lies, they will not be affected by the assault to the same degree as a child without a disability, they are more promiscuous, and they should be protected from the trauma that would result from a court process. Do you say that they are commonly held prejudices or assumptions by police and prosecution authorities?

Ms SANDS: Yes. We said that because of overseas studies and also it was reported in a study by the Disability Rights Service. That appears to be the case.

CHAIR: A few years ago, when I was Minister for Community Services, I set up what were known as Joint Investigation Teams, now known as Joint Investigation Response Teams, or JIRTS. Part of the reason for doing that was to ensure that children were examined in a more sympathetic environment and in an environment that would include some expertise being brought to bear on the questioning process to avoid the sort of contamination to which you made passing reference. Do you have any view as to how the JIRTS are operating, or how they might be conceivably improved in regard to children with disabilities?

Ms SANDS: We did not address that specifically in our submission. We could look at it and provide information at a later date. Our main point from what we have found in our research and have been told by different services and sexual assault workers and people working with children with disabilities around sexual assault, is that there does not appear to be consistency across the justice system between rural and metropolitan areas. Different views and misconceptions are held around whether children with disabilities can provide credible evidence, and whether that would be reliable. That effects whether we take a case further. That is the information that we have received and that is why we argue that in our submission. Also, part of the problem is a lack of understanding about communicating with people with different disabilities, how communication might occur, what to avoid and who the police and prosecution authorities might be able to draw on to provide expertise and to support them to obtain the evidence from a child in the way that ensures that that evidence is credible or reliable.

CHAIR: Your submission states that inappropriately framed questioning can have an effect on the recall of some people with intellectual disabilities or make them susceptible to suggestion. You also stated that people with disabilities, such as brain injury or psychiatric disability, have problems with memory and difficulty in communicating clearly about what has happened.

Ms SANDS: That is right.

CHAIR: What can be done about that?

Ms SANDS: From our point of view sexual assault health workers may have expertise in working and communicating with people with disabilities. That expertise should be used by police or prosecution authorities to help them work with children in obtaining, in an appropriate way, the evidence that is required. Part of our submission argues that there are services and expertise in the community that could be drawn upon and linked with the way that the police and prosecution authorities operate. In that way more support or appropriate communication techniques can be used for children with disabilities so that they are able to provide that evidence.

CHAIR: One of the central issues that this inquiry has been grappling with is that some witnesses have given evidence that even children without disabilities find the cross-examination process very difficult. One difficulty is that the form of questioning can be inappropriate to the stage of intellectual development of the child. For example, defence counsel may put questions in a hypothetical form or use double negatives, questioning can be hostile or jump from subject to subject very quickly. It seems to me, on reading your submission, that for children with disabilities their difficulties with cross-examination would be even greater. Would you agree with that?

Ms SANDS: Yes, we would agree. We certainly agree that cross-examination can be harrowing for all children. Our point about communication with children with disabilities and how inappropriate communication techniques can adversely affect children, is that they may come across as contradicting themselves, or they may become disoriented. In a large room where there is a lot of activity they may not be able to hear properly if they have hearing impairment and if there is a lot of background noise. There is a whole range of issues about cross-examination which would make it definitely more harrowing. Another concern is that the disability of the child would be used as a negative point to discredit the child's point of view.

Mr LAKE: Could I add also the child's ability to understand or identify inappropriate behaviour extends to defence counsel and judges. Children need to understand what is going on and have access to expert advice on those strategies or accommodations.

CHAIR: The Director of Public Prosecutions, who gave evidence to the Committee, suggested that there ought to be a pilot or trial of a court, or perhaps even in a special list within a court, in which the court staff and judicial officers, and possibly counsel, would have some special training with children at the various stages of intellectual development and the capacity to cope with various types of questioning. What do you think about that idea? I appreciate that you are not a legal service, but do you think that that would be useful to deal with some of the problems that attend the giving of evidence by children with disabilities?

Ms SANDS: That might be one way of addressing some issues around the ability of the child to provide evidence and the capability to do so at any given stage. Whatever the outcome of this inquiry, whatever might be proposed as a way forward, any procedures or pilot would need to be developed in consultation with disability organisations or professionals in the justice system who work with children with disabilities and understand the particular difficulties or barriers that children with disabilities may face and ways to communicate with them. One aspect may be knowing what a child is capable of relative to their intellectual development. That may not necessarily assist a child, for example, who has a brain injury or psychiatric disability who may need other assistance with disorientation or confusion when there is a lot of activity or noise or other kinds of communication issues or physical access issues. There is a range of accessibility issues that needs to be addressed by any pilot and that is why we say there needs to be consultation around how to go about that.

CHAIR: In regard to disorientation or being upset by noise or other forms of disturbance, some efforts have been made to deal with that sort of issue with the use of screens and close circuit television. However, the committee has been told that there can be some difficulties in that regard, for example, the image of the child on the television screen might be unrealistically small to a jury and there are resource issues such as whether the equipment is available in all cases, given the unfortunate fact that this offence, and trials in regard to it, are common. I am trying to grapple with the substantial difficulties with children without disability which is clearly the case. They can be intimidated by questioning. They can fail to understand the questioning. But in cases such as you are averting to the child may have a major perception problem. For example, the child is required under current rules of evidence to isolate particular examples of sexual assault and not simply a continuing course of conduct. To what extent can a child with intellectual disabilities or brain injury cope with that sort of questioning in any event?

Ms SANDS: That would really depend on the particular child, and I suppose we would not really want to be saying on a general level what a child would be capable of. Also I feel if we are talking about examples of intellectual disability or brain injury, there are other organisations with expertise specifically around intellectual disability, for example, or brain injury that might be able to elaborate or provide more professional opinion on that.

CHAIR: It is not really a matter of professional opinion, it is a matter of the tribunal, however constituted, getting to the facts of the particular alleged crime. Clearly, the bottom line is that the defendant is entitled to a fair trial and not be convicted on the making of a mere accusation, so the committee has to determine not only how evidence can be taken but what is consistent with a fair trial.

Mr LAKE: One of the things that points to is a concept in terms of general, I suppose, disability law and discrimination law around unreasonable accommodation. It suggests a process for a child who is a victim who then begins to see their way through the process, if at some point they can access a person, for example, a near sight interpreter or other communication supports, who can work with them to help identify the best way for them to be cross-examined and the sort of supports they might need and simple things like that. My understanding is that the Attorney General's Department is undertaking a fairly major program around what they call flexible service delivery which is looking at making their services accessible, in as broad as possible terms, to people with disabilities. It would seem that there is a nexus here in their role with the court system as well. 

CHAIR: The difficulty to which I refer is a substantial one, isn't it?

Mr LAKE: Yes.

CHAIR: I can understand what you are saying about supporting the child or working up the evidence in terms of support prior to giving evidence. However, when it comes to the court hearing itself clearly the child is giving evidence himself or herself and at that point I suppose the child has to have a degree of self reliance.

Ms SANDS: In terms of intellectual disability, the Intellectual Disability Rights Service has been involved with the committee on intellectual disability in the criminal justice system and they have released a paper on giving evidence. In that paper they talk strongly about the use of support people and their role in court and how they may assist the court when a person with an intellectual disability is providing evidence. While they do not take part or cannot direct the child in any way, they advise the court whether the child understood a question, or whether a line of questioning, or issues raised, would not be accurately understood by the child. That paper is referred to in the submission and it raises some possibilities for the way there may be somebody there to assist a child without interfering in the process.

Mr LAKE: We would be happy to provide the committee with that paper.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Are you referring to people with intellectual disability giving evidence in court?

Ms SANDS: Yes. In the submission I have provided page 8 as the web page of the Criminal Law Review Division, Attorney General's Department.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Has that discussion paper and report been circulated for a while?

Ms SANDS: For about 12 months.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: I was aware that there had been a previous inquiry by the Law Reform Commission on disability matters. Is this a fresh approach?

Ms SANDS: Yes, it is a committee that is developing three papers, and this is the first of those papers.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: In relation to papers dealing with people with intellectual disabilities and people with disabilities in court, are there any recommendations in the framework report that are relevant to this inquiry? I note you refer in your submission and suggested the committee should read it. I must say I have read it a number of times for different reasons, but for the benefit of the committee would you draw our attention to the relevant part in the framework report?

Ms SANDS: The framework report was referred to in the submission in the context of offenders with disabilities and alternative procedures. Rather than pick out particular recommendations from that report, the main things that it looks at is addressing the over-representation of people with an intellectual disability and how there can be an across government and non-government community sector approach to this issue. We strongly support the committee to look at that report. In relation to our submission to this committee, we would look at the approach for offenders or victims with disability needs to be addressed in a holistic manner across government and non-government community section organisations to address the issues that arise.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Your submission notes the need for core participation programs and witness assistance service to be accessible to people with disabilities. Are you aware of any instances where children with disabilities have not been able to access those services?

Ms SANDS: We are actually not aware of particular instances. We strongly support those programs. We are aware that the witness assistance scheme also has a particular program for people with disabilities. Our point in the submission is really to ensure that those programs are reviewing or ensuring that they are fully accessible for people with disabilities. Our experience has been in relation to mainstream service provision for people with disabilities that they are not always accessible or they may not be fully accessible or adequately accessible for people with disabilities. My point is that if there are a few cases of sexual assault against children with disabilities prosecuted then the witness assistance scheme or court preparation programs may not be aware of perhaps what full accessibility might mean if they are not seeing enough children with disabilities come through the system. We are raising it as an issue that court preparation programs need to be aware of. They need to ensure that expertise around accessibility is obtained. Whether that means they may wish to consider developing disability action plan under section 61 of the disability discrimination Act to ensure that they are constantly reviewing and consulting with people with disabilities around accessibility and enhancing and improving their programs.

CHAIR: Do you want to say anything else arising from our questions?

Ms SANDS: Mr Lake referred briefly to the fact that we are not a legal centre. Unfortunately the Intellectual Disability Rights Service was unable to make a submission but we do refer to a conversation we had with them. They are concerned that there are particular legal issues around the Evidence (Children) Act and its implications on children with disabilities. We would suggest that that may be an area where there needs to be further legal advice obtained in relation to that.

CHAIR: Do you regard the witness assistance service as helpful?

Ms SANDS: We do support that service, yes.

CHAIR: Do you say it could be enhanced to give upgraded assistance to children with disabilities?

Ms SANDS: We feel that all mainstream services need to be constantly reviewing and ensuring that they are fully and adequately accessible for people with disabilities, including children. A way to do that in an organised way is to consult and review their services through, say, a disability action plan under section 61 of the disability discrimination Act so that they have a plan that is proactively looking at their services, constantly reviewing it and enhancing it in that way.

Mr LAKE: The other issue would be to ensure that those types of strategies are available to people wherever they are so they are not just available in the Sydney metropolitan region so that people in regional courts have the same level of access to the expertise and to the strategies.

CHAIR: The Commissioner for Children and Young People, Ms Calvert, gave evidence to this inquiry and in connection with the witness assistance service suggested that perhaps there ought to be a children's witness assistance service to upgrade the specialisation and expertise. Would that be a useful suggestion?

Ms SANDS: Yes, it is something that we have not considered. The only proviso from our point of view is that if that is to be established there needs to be consultation with people with disabilities to ensure that it is accessible for children with disabilities. Accessibility across the board in terms of physical access, communication access, the way information is provided and that the services, such as transportation services that it might provide on particular occasions, are accessible for people with disabilities.

Mr LAKE: I am not as familiar with the witness assistance service as Ms Sands but the other issue is in terms of indigenous people and indigenous people with disabilities, some of those practical support services like transport and things like that are actually pretty crucial. We would suggest that particular care be given to make sure that a service like that is designed in a way that means that indigenous people can use it as well.

(The witnesses withdrew)

(Short adjournment)

PAUL MARSHALL WINCH, Public Defender, Office of the Public Defender, 13/175 Liverpool Street, Sydney, sworn and examined:

RICHARD JAMES BUTTON, Public Defender, Office of the Public Defender, 13/175 Liverpool Street, Sydney, affirmed and examined:

CHAIR: Mr Winch, in what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mr WINCH: As public defender.

CHAIR: Did you receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act?

Mr WINCH: Yes, I did.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mr WINCH: Yes, I am.

CHAIR: Could you please briefly outline your qualifications and experience as they are relevant to the terms of reference of this inquiry?

Mr WINCH: I am a practising barrister and have been for some time. It is in my capacity as a public defender appearing for people in the District Court and the Supreme Court that I put myself forward as a person with some expertise in matters pertaining to the inquiry.

CHAIR: Mr Button, what is your occupation?

Mr BUTTON: I am a barrister appointed as a public defender.

CHAIR: In what capacity are you appearing before the Committee?

Mr BUTTON: As a public defender.

CHAIR: Did you receive a summons issued under my hand in accordance with the provisions of the Parliamentary Evidence Act?

Mr BUTTON: Yes, I did.

CHAIR: Are you conversant with the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mr BUTTON: Yes, I am.

CHAIR: Could you please briefly outline your qualifications and experience as they are relevant to the terms of reference for this inquiry?

Mr BUTTON: I have been a practising barrister since 1989. I have appeared for the accused in a large number of child sexual assault trials. I was involved in law reform for 2½ years or so, and that included having substantial input into the model Criminal Code Officers Committee Review of Sexual Offences in Australia.

CHAIR: The public defenders have made a written submission to this inquiry. Is it your wish that it be included as part of your affirmed evidence?

Mr BUTTON: I would prefer that it not be, simply because it is not a document that I created.

CHAIR: If either of you should consider at any stage during your evidence that in the public interest certain evidence or documents you may wish to present should be heard or seen only by the Committee, the Committee will be willing to accede to your request. However, the House does, if it chooses, have a right to override our decision in that regard. I believe that neither of you particularly wish to make an opening oral statement, or you may reconsider and do so if you wish?

Mr WINCH: That is my position. I am happy to be asked questions.

Mr BUTTON: I am in the same boat.

CHAIR: The Committee has submitted some pre-prepared questions which we will ask you, but our questioning will not be confined to those questions. Could I indicate to you that any question I might ask, or my colleagues might ask, may be responded to by either or both of you as you choose in any particular instance. I will deal with the first prepared question. An issue raised in these submissions that has been made to this inquiry is that typical responses to victims of child sexual assault, for example, maintaining contact with the perpetrator, not disclosing the abuse immediately, not screaming when the abuse occurred, can be misrepresented by the defence during cross-examination so as to create reasonable doubt. Could you give the Committee your opinion as to what problems could conceivably be caused for defendants if expert evidence concerning children's responses to child sexual assault, as well as memory and linguistic development, were permitted to be presented to the court? 

Mr WINCH: The first problem that I see arising out of allowing expert evidence to be given about children's responses is that it could lead to a battle of the experts—that is, there would be an expert who would say that this response is typical and there would be perhaps an expert called who might then say that this is atypical or that this is not typical, or the expertise of the first expert is not up to scratch. That could lead to the kinds of difficulties with battles of experts that the Chief Justice of the Family Court has been concerned about in recent times. So that is the first concern I have about that. Second, in one sense the typical response of a person in those circumstances is at one side to the real issue that is to be decided by the court, which is whether this person is telling the truth about this instance and the expertise would need to be linked to the particular person for it to have real cogency as I see it. So that is the first two responses that I have as far as that question goes. That is where I see two particular problems arising.

CHAIR: Could I put a suggestion to you concerning a particular difficulty regarding children's stages of intellectual development and ability to deal with various forms of questioning. The Director of Public Prosecutions, Mr Cowdrey, gave evidence to this inquiry—in fact, he was our first witness—and one of the matters he put to us was that we ought to consider as an option recommending a model or trial court or perhaps even a list within a court where judicial officers and court staff, perhaps even counsel—certainly prosecuting counsel—could be trained in child psychology and stages of child development and that sort of matter. What is your response to Mr Cowdrey's suggestion?

Mr WINCH: The first response I have to that suggestion is that that kind of training and that kind of expertise could well be of assistance in perhaps eliciting the evidence of the child and making the child comfortable, that kind of thing. But the fundamental idea, as I read it in the submission that he made, was that there be some kind of trial by a judge alone who would have the special training that you have spoken about. That leads us to a circumstance where it seems to me that the accused person being tried is being judged not by a jury but by some person who it is said has special training and special expertise. It seems to me that the model project or trial that Mr Cowdrey speaks of seems to seriously undermine the idea. The fact that the accused is facing serious criminal charges and really has the right to be dealt with by a jury as opposed to that choice being taken away from him. So that the idea of a trial by experts is one that I find quite difficult to accept.

CHAIR: Mr Button, did you wish to make a comment regarding the question I asked?

Mr BUTTON: It is true that expert evidence is not usually lead in child sexual assault trials. I am not sure that it is ruled out entirely. If it is useful I can give a couple of references to cases where it has been discussed: The matter of F at (1995) 83 Australian Criminal Reports 502, and also in a High Court decision of HG—I do not have the citation for that but I think it is from 1999 and it would be in the Commonwealth Law Reports. One of the first issues would be: is there a real area of expertise that is going to be probative to a jury about the behaviour of children or the behaviour of adults or victims of crime, or is it really going to be very much a matter of commonsense and a matter of common knowledge that children are different from adults and that people who are taken advantage of will sometimes not come forward and that people who have had a crime committed against them will sometimes say inconsistent things? That is the first question that I have about it.

The second question I have is: even assuming that there is an area of expertise, can that expertise effectively be related to the particular complainant? In other words, one might be able to say well, there is a syndrome or a tendency of children to behave in a certain way but will the expert be able to say usefully this particular child or adult is behaving in that way. The third question is will it lead, as Mr Winch has said, to a war of experts about the generalities and also about the specific child, whereby the jury is confronted with perhaps three prosecution witnesses saying that this child is showing signs of sexual assault and four defence witnesses saying that this child is not showing them. Furthermore, if that were to occur, one would have thought that the complainant would need to be made available to a defence expert so that he or she could form an opinion about that person.

With regard to the particular question, that is whether or not it is a problem for complaints to be able to be cross-examined in ways that may not be probative, I think it is important to remember that in his or her address the Crown Prosecutor is entitled forcefully to put to the jury his or her submissions about the evidence in the trial and, in particular, if it is being put for example to a person in cross-examination, "Why didn't you at the age of four go to the police" or something of that nature, it is perfectly open to the Crown Prosecutor in our adversarial system to come back and say, "Use your commonsense and common knowledge, members of the jury, and regard that cross-examination as completely worthless." It is not as if this cross-examination can take place and the Crown is estopped from attacking it in reply, in effect.

Can I finally say, a problem I see with this kind of evidence arises indirectly from section 105 of the Criminal Procedure Act, which used to be old section 409B of the Crimes Act—that is the well-known provision whereby in a trial of a sexual assault allegation in almost all circumstances the sexual experience or lack of it of the complainant cannot be raised. If, for example, there was expert evidence to say that a child or an adult had been sexually assaulted and if that person had been sexually assaulted by at least one other person, even on the prosecution's case it is conceivable that that evidence would not be admissible in order to explain the expert's opinion. That seems to me to have the potential to work a very real injustice. It is just a side effect of this question of section 105, which is addressed in the Public Defenders' written submission but it is a side effect that could arise in the context of expert evidence. That is all I wish to say about that question.

CHAIR: A central issue, in fact the main issue, dealt with in the written submission of the Public Defenders to which you, Mr Button, have just referred relates to old section 409B of the Crimes Act, now section 105 of the Criminal Procedure Act, and that submission in effect is that that provision has been construed as preventing cross-examination of the complainant about the history of making false complaints about other alleged sexual assaults. The Public Defenders appear to have the view that that can work an injustice in some cases. Would you like to say something to the Committee about that matter, and presumably your view that that provision needs some attention?

Mr WINCH: I think the way that provision is framed does not allow for the presiding judge to exercise a discretion, and that is where the possibility of there being an injustice, and the reality of it from time to time, can arise. There are cases where previous false allegations can in a sense be documented but cannot be raised. Plain enough it is, it seems to me that they are matters of some relevance and go seriously to the credibility of the complainant, but because they infer or directly relate to prior sexual experience or lack of it, they are no-go areas. It is submitted that a better way to deal with that is by way of a tightly controlled but nonetheless a discretion that would allow the trial judge in some instances to permit very circumscribed but nonetheless appropriate—if it can be established the satisfaction of the judge—lines of questioning. In the submission it is put that general cross-examination about prior sexual activity can easily be put to one side as being either insulting, and there are various kinds of ways to describe that, or of little probative value, but in particular circumstances there are matters of quite serious probative value that are not permitted to be put because of the way the section works.

CHAIR: Coming back to the first question I asked, about children giving evidence and what can be done about that, one of the themes that has come through to the Committee during this inquiry, on one side at least, is that some witnesses have said that children are quite frequently confronted with a language and forms of questioning that are unsuited to their age or stage of intellectual development. Sometimes it has been said that questions might be hypothetical or contain double negatives or be a degree of intellectual sophistication that the child really does not understand. We have been told that many or even most judicial officers are very reluctant to intervene in those circumstances, although the Deputy Chief Magistrate, Ms Helen Syme, who gave evidence to us, said that it is her practice where such questions are asked to intervene and say, "Mr or Ms So-and-So, how does that question assist the court, the child clearly does not understand it?" What is your view regarding the propensity of counsel to ask questions that a child can understand and what, if anything, can be done about that?

Mr WINCH: The first comment I have to make about that is that the system we are working in is an adversarial one and some responsibility for keeping questions on track is at the other end of the bar table from where the defence counsel sits, and there is an umpire. So, the question being asked that is obtuse or has a double negative or is irrelevant could be expected to elicit an objection from the prosecutor. So, the prosecutor has a job to do in this business as well, and that is part of the prosecutor's job. That is the first response, that it is an adversarial system and both parties have jobs. The next comment that I make is that I am not sure just how a forensic advantage is obtained by counsel asking questions that the witness does not understand. It would seem to me that it would be important to ask questions that the witness does understand in order to get an answer that might be helpful. It is clear that if the witness does not understand the questions it is hard to see what the purpose of the cross-examination might be.

CHAIR: Do you have any comment to make to the Committee about the claim that has been made to us that on occasion language can verge or even become intimidatory and the child is really unsettled by the manner in which the questions are asked?

Mr BUTTON: I think it is incumbent, to my mind, on the judge to ensure that questions are appropriate and to ensure that the witness understands the questions so that the answer is going to be probative. I also think it is incumbent on the judge to stop counsel, whether prosecution or defence, overawing or intimidating a witness, whether it be a child or anybody else. I agree with what Mr Winch has said, that is incumbent on the other party to ensure that his or her witness understands the question of the opponent. I also think that if the question is answered and that question was hardly to be understood, in address counsel is entitled to say, "That answer was given, members of the jury, but do you really think the witness understood the question, that read as follows …" This is a problem that does not just arise with children being cross-examined, it can arise with any witness who does understand any question. In particular, in my experience, it can arise just as readily with an intellectually disabled accused being cross-examined by a Crown Prosecutor, when the accused, who is a witness, clearly does not understand the question.

CHAIR: Can I ask you for your view regarding the technology that now exists in these matters, such as screens and closed-circuit television? How readily available are they, given the number of this type of prosecution that appears in court lists, and could you comment on the utility of the equipment? For example, one criticism that has been made is that the image of the child on the television screen can be unrealistically small so far as the jury is concerned. Do you feel that the screens and television are a useful initiative, and what view do you have regarding an application that is sometimes made by the defence that the use of such equipment raises a prejudice against the accused?

Mr WINCH: I think that there is an implicit prejudice against an accused when the alleged victim gives evidence either by video or behind a screen. The prejudice arises because it is plain enough that by virtue of use of either of those techniques that the complainant has some concerns about being in eye contact or, worse still, in the same room as the accused. I cannot see exactly how that can be avoided. I think that is a consequence of using either of those techniques, that I think there is prejudice that flows to the accused. I think it is there at one level or another, whether anything is said about it or, in a more usual case, where nothing at all is said about it.

Mr BUTTON: In my experience it is very readily available, and I have not seen a child sexual assault trial for quite a few years where it has not been able to be used. I agree with Mr Winch that there will be an inevitable prejudice to the accused, but I also agree that it reduces the humanity of the complainant and, in that respect, is detrimental to the prosecution's case. Whenever someone speaks by way of TV it will be less impressive than someone speaking in person. That applies to children, adults, public speakers or whatever. I am not sure what the answer to that is, but I accept that it has a detrimental effect on both parties.

CHAIR: As I understand it, the rationale for using such equipment is that the child will be frightened or overawed if the child has to give evidence in front of the alleged offender. That is the policy reason, as I understand it.

Mr BUTTON: Yes, though it may also be the child being overawed by the courtroom, the judge, the jury and all the rest of it. Even if one considered constructing a system whereby the accused was put into a room and the child was allowed in the court I am not sure that that would solve the problems from the complainant's point of view. I understand there is that side to it as well.

CHAIR: I now turn to the question we submitted to you previously regarding Mr Justice Wood's remarks in a case decided earlier this year, Regina v BWT. His Honour called for a review of the number and types of jury warnings, and directions required to be considered by trial judges when summing up to a jury in a sexual assault case. One of the witnesses who has given evidence to the Committee was an academic, Dr Anne Cossins of the University of New South Wales. It certainly appears that we are verging on the situation where the panoply of warnings that has to given must be somewhat perplexing and even bewildering to a jury. Do you have any views on what Mr Justice Wood had to say?

Mr WINCH: The context in which he made those comments was a case in which he agreed with the majority and regarded a particular warning of the Longman kind as required to be given. It is also in the context where we are dealing with cases where there has been substantial delay and where the kinds of warnings that are required to be given are of the kind that required the court to say words to the effect of "In the court's experience this" or "In the court's experience that". It seems to me that the situation has not arisen because it is not the court's experience that delay can cause difficulties, because the court's experience is just that. I am not quite sure what Mr Justice Wood's review of the warnings would mean, but the warnings have arisen, as I said, because the court has come to the view that, in cases of substantial delay, there is the difficulty caused to the defence along the lines set out in Longman. The other difficulty is the other warnings that have arisen for similar reasons. That is the context, as I see it, in which the warnings are required. It is the context in which these have arisen that I wish to underline

Mr BUTTON: In a sense I think it is a problem for judges and lawyers, not necessarily juries in terms of taking care to ensure that all corrections and warnings required are given so that the matter does not succeed on appeal and then have to go back for retrial. I certainly agree that there is scope to ensure that judges and counsel know the law better, respectfully, to ensure that whenever one of these things has to be said it gets said. One of the reasons that so many directions and warnings have to be given is that child sexual assault trials are often unusual, compared to other trials. For example, there is often huge delay between the alleged offence and the trial. It is not very usual to see a trial for armed robbery alleged to have been committed in 1970, but it is quite common to see a trial of that nature for child sexual assault. That is something a jury should be warned about.

Similarly, very often it is one witness giving evidence of a series of events. That rarely happens with other crimes. Again, that is an appropriate matter for warnings. Very often in child sexual assault trials there is evidence of uncharged offences put before the jury. It is not very common in an armed robbery trial that the jury hears about other armed robberies allegedly committed by that accused on the same bank. Again, that is a matter appropriate for directions. It is problematic, but to my mind it really arises from characteristics of the trials themselves. However, I am not sure what can be done about it.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: At least one submission to the Committee and some other areas of oral evidence have suggested that we should prohibit the defence from questioning the complainant about any applications the person might have made for victims compensation. Would you like to comment on that?

Mr WINCH: I do not support a blanket prohibition on questions of that kind. There will be cases where that is relevant and probative, and there will be cases where it is not. Once again, it is a matter that ought to be dealt with by the judge' s discretion as the trial unfolds.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Would you like to give us some idea as to where that might be probative? It could also be seen to be extremely deceitful. The suggestion put to the Committee is that the complainant is going through what most people would regard as a pretty onerous experience of a criminal trial outlining a sexual assault matter, particularly a child. It appears to be irrelevant in the minds of some to question whether they have made a legitimate use of very modest amounts of money that are available for victims compensation.

Mr WINCH: If the allegation is soundly based and is true then the fact that an application for victims compensation has been made is not relevant. But if the complainant is behaving in a deceitful way then the motive for doing that may be money. It is a small amount of money, certainly, but it is not unheard of and not unknown for people to make allegations and make an application, perhaps to do both those things without a full understanding of what lies ahead of them, so that the application is made and the allegation is made without a full understanding of just how rigorous it may be to pursue the allegation.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Would like to comment, only if you want to.

Mr BUTTON: Under section 102 of the Evidence Act material in cross-examination that goes to credit must have substantial probative value. Obviously, if defence counsel asked a six-year-old child, "Have you applied for victims compensation?" or "Has an application been made on your behalf?" I would immediately expect the Crown or judge to say, "What relevance does that have in this case? I reject that." One can imagine a situation, though, where an adult complainant about child sexual assault has made a claim, is relevant. It is not determinative of the issue, but it could be relevant. As Mr Winch has said, it is not unknown for people to do things for an ulterior motive, including money as a general proposition. There is a danger in making blanket prohibitions about what is admissible and what is not because as sure as anything that one case will come along where evidence is clearly relevant and the blanket prohibition will be shown to be working an injustice.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Is there a less blanket prohibition that should be applied? More often than not this is raised in court as a means of discrediting the witness. It has been put to the Committee that rarely is that level of discrediting appropriate. All it does is put the witness through yet another hoop of trauma. Is there some guidance or prohibition that you could suggest that might at least remove that area of trauma for a victim?

Mr BUTTON: It is always open to the Crown Prosecutor to say something to the jury on the lines of "You have heard this witness cross-examined as to the fact that he or she has put in a victims compensation claim. So what, members of the jury? Isn't that exactly what a person who is telling the truth and who actually was sexually assaulted would do? They would pursue their rights. If they are entitled to money they would get it." That argument is always open to be put by the Crown Prosecutor. In my view it is a very effective answer to whatever attack is sought to be made.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Dr Anne Cossins submitted to the Committee that section 66 of the Evidence Act should be amended so that evidence of a complaint of sexual assault can be admitted regardless of the amount of time that has elapsed between the sexual assault and the complaint. Do you have any comment on that proposal?

Mr WINCH: The first thing is that the evidence of complaint, if it exists, can presently be admitted in any case under section 108 (3) of the Evidence Act where it is to be submitted to the complainant that the allegation is fabricated in re-establishing of credit kind of way. It is not the present situation that evidence of complaint cannot be led in circumstances where it exists and in circumstances where it will be alleged that there has been a fabrication of the evidence to the complainant. The effects of what Dr Cossins is proposing is to give it the additional power of being evidence of the fact of what happened; that is evidence of the truth of what happened. It seems to me that the problem with that is that it will elevate evidence that presently is not sufficiently recent and does not fit within the category set out in Graham of days, months and weeks rather than years, a probative value that it otherwise would not have and, in many circumstances—most circumstances because it is so delayed—does not deserve. Evidence of complaints can be, and is, led. It is not characterised as evidence under the Evidence Act of the truth of the assertion. Because of Graham, because of the lack of recency of the complaint it is hard to see how it would deserve such cogency.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: Several submissions identify a concern as to the exclusion of what is called tendency evidence in cases with several children known to each other, abused by the same offender, arising from the case of Hoch v Regina in 1988, on the grounds of the possibility of concoction. Cossins has recommended that the private relationship between a victim or witnesses should not be considered by the court in assessing the probative value of the tendency evidence under section 97 of the Evidence Act. What problems, if any, would you anticipate if the Parliament were to make such an amendment?

Mr BUTTON: It is fundamental to our system that if a person is accused of a crime, except in exceptional circumstances, evidence of other crimes said to have been committed by that person will not be led against them, so that if the person has committed 30 break and enters throughout his life that will not be able to be led if the person were accused of the thirty-first, unless there were some compelling reasons. That is a rule of fairness and freedom from prejudice in front of juries. And it is even more important, I think, if the other allegations are unproven or not admitted by the accused. The general exception is when there is a striking similarity between the allegations, whether they be break and enters, murders or child sexual assaults, and clearly that is predicated on a lack of contact between the complainants, because if there has been contact the striking similarity loses its force.

It is true that there is a very high test to get in this kind of evidence, and it has been a problem for the criminal justice system for at least 100 years in terms of where to draw of the line between admissibility and inadmissibility. I think it is fair to say that once this kind of evidence goes in, it is so powerfully prejudicial that most lawyers, including judges, assume that once it does go in the accused, in almost all cases, is gone. As I say, it does not just arise in child sexual assault cases; it has arisen in murder cases and all other kinds of offences. I think there is a danger in terms of bootstrapping one's way towards a verdict of guilty by way of the quantity of unproven allegations and a jury not being satisfied beyond reasonable doubt of any particular one but looking at all of them as a whole and saying he or she must be guilty of something.

I do not agree with the proposal, because once the question of contact or relationship between the complaints is taken out of the equation, one cannot determine whether the striking similarity, if it is there, has any value, or whether it simply arises from the repetition of complaints between complainants. As I understand it, in Victoria in 1997 or 1998 the Parliament did change the law to attempt to deal with this issue. I do not know the form it took, and I do not know the effect it had in the subsequent years, but I am sure it would be interesting for the Committee to have a look and see that there was an attempt in Australia to deal with this question by way of legislative reform.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: It is generally put to the Committee that sexual assault, particularly of young people, is somewhat different in its nature from other crimes in that its secrecy is an essential part of the behaviour of the offender. It is not unusual that the people they choose to assault are known to each other; it is often part of the nature of the crime. For example, it may be someone who has access to a group of young people who know each other. Nevertheless, often one of the most frustrating things for the victims is that they know of each other's independent experiences, they naturally share them or are in a position to share them, and it is a compelling piece of evidence on its own that at least one of the sexual assaults has occurred. But once they are separated and treated piecemeal, they are often individually very difficult to prove, and it is said that that is something that is somewhat special about the nature of particularly child sexual assault. Would you care to comment as to whether that is true of child sexual assault? Is it special in that regard, requiring some consideration for the allowance of evidence of that nature to be admitted or at least considered by a court?

Mr WINCH: They are crimes of a different nature to other crimes. However, the system has to allow the accused the protections because they are very serious crimes. The protections that are allowed to accused in other very serious crimes cannot be diminished, and as I see it, because of some of the difficulties of proof. Murder is a very serious crime; a lot of murders are very difficult to prove. That is the burden that the system carries in endeavouring to bring an offender to justice. To move to watering down the protections because of a multiplicity of allegations seems to me to be putting the cart before the horse: because there are allegations, therefore they are true, and if they are true therefore X is guilty. The system at the moment does not work like that, and I do not think it should move to do that.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: You have likened it to murder. People would say that murder is very difficult to prove, and that what has overcome some of those problems has been complex, scientific, forensic evidence which has largely overcome the fact that the murder victim is silent. With regard to sexual assault, some people would argue that the fact that a group of people who may know each other in some form, perhaps not even intimately, and the fact that they have a similar story is akin to finding forensic evidence in the area of murder.

Mr WINCH: Except for this. Mr Button speaks of bootstrapping. My understanding of what he means about bootstrapping is that you start with one weak allegation, for example, and you have a second weak allegation and a third weak allegation. All those three people come from a family within which there have been massive Family Court disputes between the parties. The fact that there are three allegations does not take away from the fact that it is certainly possible that the children have collectively decided to deal with dad—and it is almost always dad—like this; just watch. That is the problem, as I see it. I do not think the problem is solved by diminishing the protections that are set out.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Fingerprint evidence, for example, places a person at a particular location, but it does not place them at the particular time that the offence was committed and it may be able to be explained away. Therefore, you call other evidence. Individually, each of the pieces of evidence may not amount to much. But if you bring it all together, you develop a compelling case. Is that any different from what the Hon. John Ryan has been putting to you?

Mr BUTTON: I think there is a big difference there. The idea upon which evidence of other crimes is excluded is the belief that if a jury hears about a plethora of other crimes, it will not look to the evidence with regard to each individual crime and it will simply convict on prejudice. Some people might say it is wrong as a general proposition that in a trial for break and enter the jury does not know that the accused has been a life-long break and enter artist. But unless the evidence of the prior break and enters gets over this hurdle of admissibility, a jury does not hear about that. Some people might say that is wrong as well. To my mind, it is not a matter of strands of evidence with regard to one particular crime. In reality, it is pieces of evidence about a number of different offences.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: But it may not be different offences. If, for example, a victim has been approached in a particular way on another occasion—which may not amount to a crime per se; it may be that words were said, mannerisms were exhibited or actions were taken, or things took place that would seem peculiar or unusual in ordinary day-to-day relationships between a victim and an offender—that evidence could assist in determining whether the crime was committed. That is the problem we have heard with sexual offences: It is usually done between people who know each other or who have some relationship between them; that is how they have access to it. It is not a one-off thing. It is not like a robbery, when someone breaks into your home; it involves a course of conduct. Why cannot that course of conduct be brought to the attention of the court?

Mr BUTTON: It is very common for the course of conduct with regard to one complainant to be brought to the court's attention; there is no doubt about that. The question is: What about other complainants; should that be brought to the court's attention? In unusual circumstances, where the offender has adopted a particular approach to the crime, whether it be child sexual assault, break and enters or murders, that evidence is admissible because in a nutshell it is felt that its probative force is so powerful that it outweighs the inevitable prejudice. But I think there is a very big difference between hearing about the course of conduct allegedly adopted with regard to the one complainant over years. I think that has its own prejudices, but I think it is very different for a jury to hear: "And as a matter of fact, five other children have made allegations against this person as well," unless there are exceptional circumstances.

CHAIR: What about when it is a perpetrator in a scout troop or a teacher at a school?

Mr WINCH: I think the necessity for there to be some evidence or some way of demonstrating that there has not been concoction is a realistic filter for that. I see the difficulty and I understand, but it seems to me that allegations can spread and be picked up in a "me too, me too, me too" kind of way, without there being much force in any of them, and unless they can be seen to have been made independently—

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: But that is something that the jury could weigh up, surely, if it is put that way?

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: We have looked at other evidence which is either included or excluded, and your response has been, surely the defence or the prosecutor can simply make this explanation to the jury and they can come to the conclusion. Does that not apply similarly to this: you could interview a group of people, one of the obvious defences is that they have concocted this and it is open to the defence to attempt to demonstrate how that concoction occurred?

Mr WINCH: It is just that what that really means is that a person in such a circumstance would be facing trial for two or three different counts of sexual assault with different victims. I think there needs to be a preliminary hurdle before similar fact evidence can be used against an accused in that way. I think there has to be some filter that is before the jury that there needs to be a stronger force than merely being one of the allegations. First, the prejudice that Mr Button speaks of will completely overwhelm the possibility of there being a fair trial.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Part of what you are saying is predicated on juries, and you continually advocate the need to have juries in these sorts of matters. One of the suggestions made during the course of the inquiry is that that may not be appropriate.

Mr WINCH: I cannot think of many cases in which someone can face the risk of more than 10 years imprisonment—

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Is that right? The Land and Environment Court deals with all sorts of offences, the Industrial Court deals with all sorts of cases involving criminal negligence—

Mr WINCH: All I can say is that my visits to the gaol do not have me running into people who have been sent to gaol by any of those tribunals.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: What I am seeking to demonstrate to you is that serious consequences may flow from breaches of such offences.

Mr WINCH: The current debate about whether directors should go to gaol shows just how different the world we deal with is different to the land and environment, industrial relations, responsibility of directors area. Here with crime, the system at the moment has it that trial by judge alone is available but only with the concurrence of the accused.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: And the prosecution.

Mr WINCH: Yes, both have to agree. That seems to be a realistic way to leave it because the penalties are so serious — they are seven years and up. It seems like a fairly radical rethink, from my perspective of the system, to allow matters of such seriousness to be dealt with by judge alone without the consent of the accused.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Going back to the point, if there was a case which involved the kind of evidence we have described before, maybe it is one that an accused would want to exercise their option to go for a judge alone trial. They are worried about the prejudicial impact on juries and the inability of them to be able to exclude certain things from consideration. At least there would be reasons, all that sort of thing, given for any decision.

Mr BUTTON: The prosecutor may not agree to a judge alone trial though, for good reasons, in that circumstance.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Are you suggesting that the prosecutor should not have a say in it?

Mr BUTTON: I am saying that the prosecutor might—

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Does the prosecutor's discretion mean that that will make him feel more comfortable? I am simply trying to look at solutions.

Mr BUTTON: Sure. Can I just ask—I do not know the answer to this question—whether I any of those other offences involve individuals being incarcerated, the land and environment court and industrial relations?

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Some of them can, I think.

Mr BUTTON: I would have to say, in support of Mr Winch, that I think every option should be on the table but once we start taking away the right to trial by jury we are undermining something that has been seen as very fundamental to our criminal justice system for a long time and I would respectfully suggest that we think extremely carefully before we start doing that.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: The last time I practised in criminal law I always looked carefully at the facts; if I thought there was anything remotely prejudicial that was likely to get in, I would go for a judge alone trial because I thought that was the best way of dealing with it. I do not know why you could not do it here.

Mr WINCH: It has its place. I am just not sure that it is the way to go.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: Especially in an area like this.

The Hon. JOHN RYAN: I was going to ask a question about sexual assault counselling but I think you have clarified that you meant something a little more limited than the submission suggests, and I am satisfied with that.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: I want to ask a question about these counselling notes you referred to in your submission. Section 150 sets out limited circumstances, and the production of such documents can be compelled. One of the arguments, as I understand it, as to why those counselling notes remain protected in the way they are is that persons who are performing essentially a therapeutic function would not be as inclined to be as full and frank in terms of their recording as they would be if they had to have those notes disclosed. They could then be subject to cross-examination, and certain consequences could flow from that. Even if the legislation was changed so that defence could get access to the notes, the ability to cross-examine on them or, indeed, to have them admitted would be restricted to some form of court discretion. I do not know exactly how you would structure it but assuming that you could work out a way that it could, would that be a solution to some of your concerns?

Mr WINCH: I think it would. I think the real problem that is faced by the defence side is an inability to get access to the notes and to then make a decision about what cross-examination might flow thereafter. As I understand it, once there is production of the notes, then it is possible to have the argument with the judge that there is a real forensic purpose and so on.

The Hon. JOHN HATZISTERGOS: The only other problem I see is that the knowledge of the notes can be used in cross-examination, even if the notes cannot be admitted. For example, if a complainant has given a particular version of some event it could be put to the witness, "You have said on another occasion", without not referencing necessarily to the notes.

Mr WINCH: As I see it, if the notes disclose a variety of versions or a fundamental difference in the version—for example, the witness said in police statements that it happened on or about her ninth birthday and in the counselling notes some other version is said, some other time, some other location—then that could provide the basis for an argument, as I said, to cross-examine the victim or the complainant along those lines. So I agree that the knowledge could be used but if the notes were produced to the court, then the court can see that there are these areas about which cross-examination might be allowed and that would be a way of the court both confining the material but everybody being able to make an argument about what is permissible and what is not permissible.

CHAIR: Before we conclude, I come back to what Justice Wood said in R v BMT earlier this year. I worry about His Honour's remarks. I know you have answered my question previously. I know you have said, in effect, that you do not think that juries are unduly confused or troubled by the directions that have to be given. Can I put the matter to you in detail though? Under section 107 of the Criminal Procedure Act the trial judge is required first to "warn the jury that absence of complaint or delay in complaining does not necessarily indicate that the allegation that the offence was committed is false". Secondly, the judge is required to "inform the jury that there may be good reasons why a victim of a sexual assault may hesitate in making, or may refrain from making, a complaint about the assault". I suppose you could describe those as a requirement to give essentially a negative warning. On the other hand, it appears to be the case that following the decision in R v Davies, decided in 1995, that apart from the warnings set out in the section which I have just cited, that in cases where there had been no complaint or a delay in making a complaint, it still remained appropriate to direct the jury in terms of Kilby. In the Davies case Justice Hunt said, among other things:

The section does not purport to codify the law relating to evidence of complaint; if it was intended by the legislature to preclude the usual direction referred to in Kilby's case, the section should have contained an express exclusion. A simpler course may have been to exclude altogether the anomalous admissibility of evidence of complaint. But neither course was followed.

Justice Hunt clearly set out his views. Although I have never sat on a jury, and I am never likely to, being both a member of Parliament and a lawyer, I find it almost extraordinary that a jury would not be perplexed by those three warnings being given. Do you have a view on that?

Mr BUTTON: I think in the High Court case of Crofts it was said in effect that the warning that favours the prosecution has to be given but the judge is not prohibited from commenting as he or she sees fit additionally. That warning must be given, and I personally do not think juries have trouble with receiving a section 107 warning and then the judge, if he or she sees fit, saying something along the lines of, "In this particular case, however, members of the jury, you have heard evidence that nothing was said until after there was a custody dispute" or some other aspect. I appreciate that there are a large number of things that have to be said to juries in a child sexual assault trial. To me, each one of them seems understandable so long as simple language is used because, after all, most of the warnings and directions are commonsense. So I feel fairly comfortable with that one. In general as well, I think it is dangerous to start telling judges piecemeal what they can and cannot say to juries in their summing up and to prohibit judges from commenting on certain matters unless we look at the whole question of judges commenting on the facts to juries in summing up.

CHAIR: In the Crofts case, to which you have just referred, apparently the delay in making the complaint was in the order of six years. Dr Cossins discusses that case in her detailed submission to the Committee. Among other things, she said:

Nonetheless, the delay by the complainant in Crofts was neither inexplicable nor unexplained, since the delay was explained at trial and it is the very type of behaviour that is characteristic of child sexual abuse victims.

Do you have any view on what she said?

Mr BUTTON: Just focusing on the generalities, one can start to criticise or attack what judges say in their summing up about the facts. It is quite common for judges in their summaries of the facts in the summing up to say things that we do not like. I understand that in America the judges do not comment on the facts at all; they just give the law and send the jury out. I think in the medium term this whole question of judges in effect expressing their own opinions in summing up will be something ripe for consideration in Australia.

CHAIR: I think we are left with the result that you respectfully disagree with Justice Wood's view in the BWT case but the law might be ripe for reconsideration regarding the nature of the warnings that are given.

Mr WINCH: To this extent that it seems to me that it is in the process of continual development and that BWT is, as it were, the most recent pronouncement but that this is an area that is still fluid and is in some senses responsive to the High Court with its pronouncements in Longman and other cases so that there is almost a case-by-case development of the law that we are watching and living through as it happens now and that BWT is the last of those at present. Mr Button talked about a wholesale review of the role of judges in their summing up. That may have something going for it but there is the real concern in my mind about making blanket prohibitions about what judges can and cannot say to juries, especially in the context, as I mentioned earlier, that it is the courts that seem to be continually saying, "It is the court's experience that" and so on.

It seems to me to be a growing thing that is emerging out of the activities of the courts. In that sense I disagree. I do not believe that there is any need for someone to look at all the directions that are required to be given and codified, or in some other way make provisions about them. It is important that the judges have a clear idea of what has to be said. It is not my experience that juries are perplexed or confused by pre-directions that are given.

CHAIR: I take it you would not be shocked if the Committee were to recommend that the Law Reform Commission examine this matter—and I do not know what we will recommend—particularly the nature and number of warnings that have to be given.

Mr WINCH: It has been raised by Justice Wood and obviously it is a matter that is live for discussion and is very much out there. I wonder whether the subtext is that this is something that the High Court might look at. I do not know exactly.

CHAIR: Is there anything that Committee might have overlooked that you wish to address?

Mr BUTTON: Referring to the old section 409B, every other jurisdiction in Australia and in the common law world has a rigorously controlled discretion rather than a blanket prohibition. It has been looked at repeatedly in New South Wales and it will continue to be a problem that in a very rare case works in justice until it is addressed.

(The witnesses withdrew)

(The Committee adjourned at 12.47 p.m.)
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